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Landmarks Preservation Commisslion
September 15, 1970, Calendar No. |
LP-0666 o

CHELSEA HISTORIC DISTRICT, Borough of Manhattan

BOUNDARIES

The property bounded by the southern property lines of 458 through 438 West
20+th Street, part of the western and the southern property lines of 4385 West.
20th Street, part of the western property line of 434 West 20th Streef, the
southern and part of the eastern property lines of 434 Yest 20+h Street, the
southern and part of the eastern building lines of 432 West 20th Street, part
of the southern and western building lines of 430 West 20th Street, part of the
southern property line of 430 West 20th Street, the southern property line of
¢23 Vest 20th Street, part of the western property Iine of 424 vest 20th Street,
the southern property lines of 424 through 420 ‘/est 20th Street, part of the
eastern property line of 420 West 20th Street, the southern property lines of
418 through 406 YWest 20th Street, part of the western property line of 404 West
20th Street, the southern and part of the eastern property lines of 404 West
20th Street, the southern property line of 159 Ninth Avenue, Ninth Avenue, the
southern property line of 150 Ninth Avenue, the eastern property lines of 150
and 152 Ninth Avenue, part of the eastern property line of 154 Ninth Avenue,
part of the southern property line of 156 Ninth Avenue, the southern end part
of The eastern property lines of 360 Yest 20th Street, the southern property -
lines of 358 through 348 West 20th Street, part of the western property line of
346 vlest 20th Streef, the southern property lines of 346 through 336 West 20th
Street, part of the eastern property line of 336 West 20th Street, the southern
property 1ines of 334 through 318 West 20th Street, the eastern property line
of 318 West 20th Street, West 20th Street, the eastern property line of 327
Wlest 20th Street, The northern property lines of 327 through 331 West 20th
Street, part of the western property line of 33t VWest 20th Street, the northern
property line of 333 West 20th Street, part of the eastern property iine of
335 viest 20th Street, the northern property lines of 335 through 331 West 20th
Street, part of the western property Iline of 351 Vest 20th Street, the northern
oroperty lines of 353 through 36! West 20th Street, the western property line
of 36! West 20th Street, West 20th Street, Ninth Avenue, ¥West 21st Street, the
eastern property line of 347 West 2ist Street, the northern property lines of
347 through 357 West 2ist Street, part of the western property line of 357 West
2)st Street, the northern and part of the western property tines of 359 West
215t Street, the northern property line of 180 Ninth Avenue, Ninth Avenue, West
22ad Street, Tenth Avenue, the southern property lines of 466 through 460 West
20vh Street, and part of the eastern property line of 460 West 20th Street.

TESTIMONY AT THE PUBLIC HEARINGS

On March 31, 1970 the Landmarks Preservation Commission heid a public
hearing on the proposed designation of the Cheisea Historic District (ltem
Ho. 1), . The hearing had been duly advertised in accordance with the pro-
visions of law. Thirty-four persons spoke in favor of the proposed desig-
nation including the representative of Manhattan Community Board #4. These
witnesses and letters received by the Commission clearly indicate that there
iz very great support for this Historic District from the property owners
and the residents of Chelsea.

On April 12, 1966 (ltem No. 34) and on December 27, 1966 {(item ilo. 29),
+he Landmarks Preservation Commission had held public hearings on a proposed
Chelsea Historic District. Twenty~two persons spoke 'in favor of the pro-
posed Historic District at the Aprii hearing, and sixtesn persons appeared
at the December hearing to support the proposed designation. The festimony
a+ that time and the communications received then indicated the very great
support for the designation of a Chelsea Historic District.
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INTRODUCT ION

The New York Commercial Advertiser for Apri! 3, 1846, said: "There is
still a good deal of enterprise in the way of builcing apparent in the upper
part of the city. Whoever goes thither no offener than once a month, sees
changes which give a strange face to places once familiar to him.... The
neighborhood which bears the name of Chelsea is rapidly covering itself with
new buildings. The arrangements made by the original properietors of the
land in that quarter are such that no building can be erected for any purpose
which will make the neighborhood disagreeabls, and it is becoming a favorite
place of residence. We saw yesterday in Jwenty-third Street, near Tenth
Avenue, an elegant row of three story buildings set back from the street in
such a manner as to leave a large garden in froat, which we tearned was to be
ornamented with three fountains...." | ‘

|

Among the "mew buildings" referred t6 in the gquotation were "London
Terrace", then being built on the site of the present London Terrace apariments.
The splendid effect of Andrew Jackson Davis' design for this handsome row of
Greekx Revival houses and the plan for the gardens in front of them was the
ultimate in planning for Chelsea. The regulaticns for this block front, which
was across West 23rd Street from Cisment Clarke Moore's own house, were incor-
porated in two conveyances between Moore and Witliam Torrey, the builder. One
stated that the design of the houses had to be approved by Moore, and the other
outlined the design for the gardans. |

These foliowed "the arrangemeénts™ of Moore, the proprietor, in planning -
the orderly transition of a country estate to a highly desirabie residential
neighborhood. Consequently, the Chelsea Historic DOistrict was a planned com-
munity, and the success of that plan is responsible for the Cheisea we see
today., ' :

T

Today, when planning is exercised as'an instrument of public policy, based
on zoning ordinances, it is hard to appreciate how effectively planning, at
teast on a limited scale, could be exercised by individuals through covenants
which ran with the land. What is unusual 'in Chelsea i5 not so much Moore's
use of covenants, which had been used before, but the fact that they were usad
mor2 intensively and extensively than any we know of up to 1833.

HISTORICAL AND ARCHITECTURAL S!GMIFICANCE
1750~1830

Captain Thomas Clarke (Clement Clarke Mcore's grandfather) named his
estate "Chelsea" affer Chelsea, now a part of London. He had purchased the
fand in 1750 from Jacob and Teunis Somerindyke. The boundaries were Fitzroy
Road (approximately Eighth Avenue) on the .East, the Hudson River on the West
(at that time about Tenth Avenue), West 28th Street on the North, and about
West 20th Street on the South. Upon the death of Clarke's widow in 1802, the
southerly portion of ths estate was inherited by their daughter Charity, wife
of Benjamin Moore, Episcopal Bishop of New York and President of Columbia
Coitege. Moore, in 1789, had purchased from James Rivington a strip of tand
to the south of the original Chelsea boundary._, This, combined with Moore's
share of the original farm, ran from West'19th 1o West 24th Street. Charity
and Benjamin Mcore deeded it in 1813 to their son, Clement Clarke Moore, for
the ftraditional one dotlar, .

Clement Clarke Moore is fondly and aimost solely remembered for his asso-
ciation with “A Visit from St. Nicholas,” which generations of school children

have learned to recite at countiess Christmas celebrations.
t

His life span stretched from the Revélufionary War to just after the Battle
of Gettysburg. Raised in the environmentiof New York's pre-Revolutionary War
gentry, his leisurely world chenged [ittie in the early days of the Republic.
Financially secure, indeed a wealthy man, he was free to follow his scholarly
and literary interests - among them his duties as Professor of Bibliical Learning
at the General Theological Seminary, teacher of Oriental and Gresk {iterature,
author of a Lexicon of the Hebrew Language and of a number of poems,
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Contrary to his fafher s hopes, he d:d not enfer the ministry, but was
an active and generous.churchman nonetheless. He donated the land on which
both the General Theologicat Seminary and St. Peter's Church were bullt,

His parents continved o Iive at "Chelsea", which stood 200 feet west
of Ninth Avenue, between West 22nd and 23rd Streets. Clement Moore used it as
his summer home, living at the corner of Charlton and MacDougal Streets during
the winter, In 1835 he first listed "Chelsea™ as his. permanent address.

The lovely - counfry setting began to change, and Moore's way of life was
drastically altered, when the Commissioners' Plan of 1807-1811 for the grid
strest pattern became operative. Eighth Avenue was cut through in 1815 and *
Ninth Avenue followed In 1818, : '

Moore, in a pamphiet.published in the latter year, protested the procedures
used. in implementing this public improvement. He particularly deplored the
leveling and filling which resulted in a monotonous, flat landscape. West 2lst
and’ 20th Streets were cut through in 1826 and 1828. The first building of the
Seminary, "East Hall", was opened for use In the Spring of 1827, and St. Peter's
Church was organized in 1831. By this time Chelsea was no longer a country
estate, buf had become an: embryonlc real estate developmenf :

1830-1850

Recognizing the realities of the situation and deciding to make the best
of them, Moore began fto plan Chelsea as an elegant residential neighborhood.
Yhether the concept was his, or whether he followed the advice of James N,
We!lls, manager of his estate, is not known., No actual plan exists, except the
map dated 1835, which shows the available lots for sale and which carries this
notation: “Purchasers of tots on this map will be required to bulid fireproof
houses of good quality. Those on the avenue lots to be three stories, and
those on the Cross Sfreefs two stories in height. All kinds of nuisances will
be prohlbifed.... - v

The essence of the plan was, however, the agreement made on April 29, 1834
between Moore and the new buyers of his lots on Viest 20th and 2ist Streets,
George.Cogglll, merchant, John N. Smith, merchant-taylor, Floyd Smith, merchant,
Don Alonzo Cushman, merchant Joseph Tucker, builder, Jacob Roome,.buitder and
James N, Welis, bu:lder, which provided for an open space or cour? in front of
the buildings, similar to the open spaces in front of fthe houses which had re-
cently been buiit in Waverty Place (now Washington Square northeast). The open
space was to remain unobstructed forever, except for necessary steps for en-
trance platforms, pedestals, iron fences and railings connected therewith. The
various conveyances specified, in addition, that the houses cover the entire
frontage of the lot (o eliminate rear buildings), that no stables or manu-
factories be built, that trees be planted when so requested by Moore, and In
some instances, that the design for a house be the same as that of one already
eracted In the nelghborhood. These provisions, except for the last two, had
been used elsewhere; but not ail!l by the same owner. Moore was not an l[nnovator,
but rather consolidated the prevalling safeguards in the covenants to his
prOper?Ies.

The resuiting effect was the adaptation to Cheisea of the residential -
square concept. 1In this instance, tha Seminary block (Chalsea Square) acts
as the square. The ten-foot setbacks oh West 20th and 2Ist Streets and other
regulations simply protected and enhanced it. The block on which the old
house "Chelses" sat in its own grounds was also planned, and protfected on the
north by "London Terrace", on the south by the four mansions on West 2Z2nd
Street, and on the west by a rigidly controlled row of Greek Revival houses
with English basements, on Tenth Avenue.

Thus *the flrst houses, which were bullt In a parkliike setting, were
either mansions or large town houses, Two of the most notabte, the Cushman
mansion and gardens, occupying the blockfront on Ninth Avenue across from the
Seminary, and the Keeier mansion, on West 20th Street, also facing the
Seminary, are gone, The homes of James N. Welts and Edwin Forrest remalin.
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These earty houses, in the Greek Revival style, were of an exceptionally
high quality of design, and, from surviving elements and old photographs, we
know they were rich in detail both on the exterior and in the interior. The
designer is not known, but the architect Caivin Poliard lived just oulside
the Historic District at the present No. 336 West {9th Street, in one of a row
of three houses he designed vhich suggesfs that he may have done more work in
the neighborhood.

|840-I860

Greek Revival houses, some of more modes+ size, began to fill in the empty
lots. Most of them were built singly, but Edwin Forrest, who [ived on West
22nd Street and James Phelan each built six houses, three on West 2ist Street
and- Three on.-West 22nd Sfreet Houses with shops on the ground floor were
buitt on 2th Avenue. ' © '

Not until the decade of 1850~1860 was the district practicaltly complefed.
Rapid fransit, in the form of the EighTh Avenue St-eet Railway, which was put
anough in 1852, provided an impetus to buu!dlng at this time. .

Cheisea has a wea!fh of houses bunlf In the ttalianate styie, many of which
have the characteristic high stoops and grand arched doorways crownéd with heavy
molded entablatures resting on foliated brfackets. HNowhere in the city, do so few
blocks provide the viewer with finer examples of the styles. The richness of the
designs and subtle variations in use of materials are in many cases unique.

1860~ I940 |

Chelsea never fuifilied the hopes of its first residents by becoming a very
fashionable neighborhood; it remained comforfable and middle-class, but archi-
tecture was always of high quality, however and Moore's good principles of
planning were followed. Fortunately, this hagh qual ity was maintained when
apartment houses or tenements began to replace the single family houses in the
18905, Neville & Bagge, C.P.H. Giibert and 'J. August Lienau, who designed
some of them, were ali noted architects of their day.

This tradition of good design continued on into the 1930s when certain
modern bulldings in the District were built., The design of some of these
targer buildings has been handled in such‘manner that human scale, an important
feature of any Historic District, has been preserved.,

ety el . RECENT DEVELOPHENTS

Untit recently, many of the changes to the early houses have been in the
nature of inexpensive and necessary repairs, such as the replacement of a door
or an iron railing rather than alterations that lowered the basic quality of
the buildings., The most drastic change, as has happened widetly throughout the
City, has been the resurfacing of brownstone facades with stucco and the
shearing off of lintels and entablatures.

Chelsea has been rediscovered in racent years as one of Mew York's most
charming and eminentiy liveable residential enciaves. Some of the later changes
have been made with the weli-intentioned, if not always weli~informed, intent of
recreating its former charm. Walking thriough Chelsea, it iIs apparent that far
more fine quality exists in what is authentic than in that which has attempted
to be charming. !

Under the knowledgeable and watchful eye of the Chelsea Historic District
Council, and with the help of various Block Committees, Chelsea must maintain a
s¥rong position if it is to preserve and:resTore the best of its past, and to
flourish in the.future. ' :
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HISTORIC DISTRICT

BLOCK BY BLOCK DESCRIPTION




‘CHELSEA - HD" Lo N | o

WEST 20TH STREET (Nos. 361-327) Between 8th and 9th Aves.

Fittingly, to complement the St. Peters Church Rectory and Parlish
House, across the street, the western end of this street retains much
of its original appearance and pleasant scale, with a fine row of
residences., :

NORTH SIDE - A

Nos. 361, 359, 357 and 355 were built for DonlAlonio Cushman in
the Italianzte styie. Nos. 359, 357 and 355 were built in 1858 while.
No. 361 was built identical to the others in 1860. )

. These four buildings, built by Cushman on a part of his garden,
are In good condition and typica! of their period, retaining their
original dormers, except at No. 359, and thelr roof cornices.' The
cornices are carried on foliated brackets. The inner dcorways have -
handsome rope trim. A segmental arched entablature carried on orna-
mented brackets remains above the doorway at No. 355. Although the |
ornately carved outer doors remain at No. 335, and the-consoles-have
been stuccoed, they help fo reconstruct the original grandeur of this
brownstone row. All) the stoops remain and the lronwork is designed
In a style popular in the latter part of the nineteenth century.

No. 353 was built in a style transitional from Gresk Revival to
{tallanate for John Waters in 1852-3. The original cast fron railings
at the stcop and areaway are ornamented versions of the typical
elongated (tatlianate design and are in excellent condition. The re-
placement of. the present docor with double dcors, appropriate to the
style, would enhance this buliding and strengthen its original elements -
the cornice and part of the door enframement.

Nos. 351 and 349, also tallanate, were built in 1864 for Smith
& Mead. , . '

No. 347 was built in the Itatianate style in 1856 for Moses Parker.

in spite of the. time betwesn the construction of No. 347 and Nos.
349 and 351, they were originally very similar in appéarance. These
two-bay brownstones were built with stoops rather than with English
basements, which were the usual style for narrow houses In Chelsea.
Nos. 347 and 349 retain their bracketed ang paneled roof cornices in
good condition but have had their brownstone door enframements and
window lintels made flush, Ffrom what remains it is possible to recon-
struct a prototype from the three, as the original sash remains on the
first and second floors of No. 351, on the third at No. 347, whiia
No. 349 has its original cast iron railings at stoop and areaway, in- .
cluding the newel posts. Ths richly detailed inner doors, although
remodeled, remain at No. 347. :

No., 345 was built, in a style transitional from Greek Revival
to ltalianate, for G. W. Messereau In 1851-2, An excellent example of
this transitional style, 1t is closer in appearance to its neighbors
on the east than it is to the |talianate groups on the west. The
original door enframement is Greek Revival and the entablature is of
sheatmetal, The attic windows are in the same style as the other
windows, while the doorway and cast Iron railings at the stoop and
areaway are l|talianate.

No. 343 was built in the Greek Revival style, in 1849, for
William S. Hunt.

No. 34| was built in the Greek Revlval style, in 1846-47, for
Mary Grant. .

These two bulldings, erected within a few years of each ofher,
retain most of the characteristics of their original style. The
variatlion In pattern of the iron work is notable. The brownstone
entablatures at No. 34Y and 343 have been replaced by sheetmetal, a
welcome change from the ubiquitous shearing off of stone. No. 343
has had its cornice replaced by a high parapet.

-5-
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CHELSEA H.D. ‘

WEST 20TH STREET (Nos. 361-327) Betw. 8Fh and 9th Aves.

No. 339 was built in the Greek Ravival styte, in 1845, for John
Beaver, Until the stoop was recentiy removed, this building was in
harmony with Nos. 341 and 343. The removal of the cornice and addition
of a studio floor was the result of an earlier alteration,

No. 337 was built In 1852 for George Webb. This house was
originaliy buift with a shop on the ground floor and a8 passageway at
the east wall leading to an earlier house at the rear. The ground
floor has been remodeled more than once; the upper floors, howsver,
retain much of their original vernacular appearance.

No. 335 was originally built in the Greek Revival style in 1849,
for Noah Woodruff. The remode!ing of this house in 1892 was so com-
plete that today it is a document of the nineties - with its incised
decoration on the {intels, projecting entablature and cornice (these
are galvanized sheetmetal) and its plate glass windows, The ironwork
at the stoop and areaway is Greek Revival In character,

No. 333 was built in 1855 for John Howe. The present appearance
probably dates from an alteration in 1893 when a story was added, The
entry is at street level with double doors, and the wrough' iron raii-
ing is fypical of the elaborate style of the late nineteenth century.
The first floor is brownstone and the upper stories are of brick.

No. 331 was built In the Greek Revival style in 1846 for Moses
Parker. Despite alterations, this house retains many important
features of its original style -- the cornice with modillions, a
complete set of iron railings and the inner doorway. A correct Greek
Revival door would greatly enhance the entire facade. This Is the
only Greek Revival house in the Historic District which retains a
passage to a rear building.

Nos. 329 and 327 were built in the italianate style in 1841 for
Witliam S, Hunt. This pair of narrow brownstones, each 12.6 feet
wide, are still in a highly expressive state. Both retain their
original cornices, inner doorways and handsome doors. WNo. 327, in
addition, retains its rusticated basement, panel under the window
and keystones over the door and window. In the haunched 1intels of
galvanized sheetmetal an attempt was made to follow the original
design,

WEST 20TH STREET (Nos. 318-362) Betw., 8th and 9th Aves.

SOUTH SIDE ' !

St. Peters tower rises above the street, reminiscent of the ]
period when the New York skyline was punctuated only by church spires
and fowers. The Church, in the early country Gothic style, and the
Rectory, in a3 unique version of the Greek Revival style, are among
the architectural treasures in the Hisforic Bistrict and in tha City,

The houses east of the church are excellent examples of the
substantial early Greek Ravival houses, interspersed with those in
the Ktalianate style, that are characteristic of Chelsea. The west
end of the street includes James N. Vells' fine row of Iltalianate
brownstones. .

Nos. 318 and 320 were built in the Greak Revival styie in 1837
for Masterson and Smith. No. 318, one of the large early houses In
the District, retains the important characteristics of its original
appearance, the brownstone entablature above the door, (the bracketed
trim is a sheetmetal addition), the high broad stoop, with pedestals
at its base, the ironwork with palmetto crests at the areaway and
the hammered finish of the brownstone basement. The double entry
doors, the sheetmetal cornice and plate glass windows were changes
made in the latter part of the nineteenth century.

R T T

.
aeks



L B2
RN

. .cl,
L‘. . ]

’ i 1“?"# ra‘jr% Ja tu'{!l |h|l‘|ild}‘."ﬂ’ .I w
i i

CHELSEA - HO

- WEST 20TH STREET (NOQ. 318-362) . Betw. Sth andﬁgfh Aves,

No. 320 has no remalnlng +race of its orcginal doors windows
or details,

~Nos. 322, 324 and 326 were built in the italianate style in 1858
for J. and A. Van Dolson. Of this group Nos. 322 and 324 maintain

their original inner déorways with the rope molding trim and arched
- paneled double doors. In addition, an almost complete set of the !

original cast iron railings remains at No. 322. Unfortunately the
brownstone door enframement and window moldings have been shaved off,
as have so many in Chelsea. No. 326 has been recently altered bex
yond recognition, with a garage and entry at grade level. However,
the original cornice above Thls bui!ding and those of its neighbors
stitl define the group.

Nos, 328,'330 and 332 were bullt in‘THq'Ifailanafe style in 1857
for H. Secor, Jacob Smith and J. W. Clark. It is unusuval to find a

group of this date in such a uniformly exgelient state of preservaflon.'

The only change at No. 332 Is the replacement of the windows at the
upper stories and the loss of some. of the moldings on The double
doors. Fortunately those have been retained at No. 330, which Is--

easy To establish as the prototype of this wel! designed ‘wo-bay group.

The scmple mo | ded door enframemenf is as unusuval as it Is handsome.

Mo. 334 was built in The Greek Revaval sfyle in 1836, for
Richard Redfield. This is an excellent example of the first houses
built in Chelsea. The twenty-five foot width shows to advantage the
impressive character of the Greek Revival style. The most important -
features, the doorway (theé sheetmetal pediment is a later addiftion),
The stoop with its richly patterned handrailings, and the pedestais .
at its base survive, as do the palmetto crestings on the areaway -
fence, and the egg and dart molding above the fasclia board. The sash
has been changed to two-over-two and the fater sheeimetal cornices
over ?he wnndows have enlarged cap-molds. , :

ST Pe*ers Church, Recfory and Parish Hall (Nos. 336- 346) form
the focal point of the nineteenth century cityscape on this street .
in Chefsea, which is so pleasant to the passerby. Few realize the
architecturat importance of the Church and the Rectory. The Church
was the very first of :the English parish Gothic churches built in this
country and served as a guide to builders of other churches in this
style. They had no other source for a model, other than the drawings
in the architectural and builiders books. The Rectory is unique today,
in its pilastered variation of the Greek Revival style.

The parish was formally organized on May 9, 1831, Episcopal
services were originalty held in the Seminary for the faculty, stu-
dents and neighbors. The following year, on April 25, 1832, Clemsnt
Clarke Moore leased the land for +he Church to the vestry for the
nominal rent of 7¢ per year until 1837. Attached to the conveyance
was a sketch of the plan for thelr bulldings, a Chapsl, Church and
Rectory, signed by Clement Clarke Moore. The original Chapel, which
is the present Rectory, and the proposed Rectory on the site of the
present Parish House were originally planned as tetrastyle Greek
temples with entrances at the center and bays filanked by Doric
columns. Moore's Inclusion of the design for this bullding with
the conveyance is another example of his interest in visual appear-
ances and planning.

The original design of the Chapel was l|ater altered éhd Todéy

‘brick pilasters, running the height of the building, replace the

Doric columns, but, with this exception, it Is quite close to the
original plan. The Chapel (now the Rectory) iIs unique in this
pitastered version of the Greek Revival style, and is also one of
the earliest Greek Revival buildings extant in the City. The
cornerstone was laid on October 8, 183t and the building consecrated
February 4, 1832. In 1841 it became the Rectory, which it remains
today.
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CHELSEA H-D ' " .

WEST 20TH STREET (Nos. 318-362) Betw.' 8Th and 9th Aves.

| .

The change in the architectural style of the Church itse!lf from Greek
Revival to Gothic is said to have been based on a skatch of Magdaien
Col lege, Oxford, made by a vestryman visiting in England. It is not known
whether the change was made before or after construction began. Fowever,
the building retains the Greek temple .plan, rather than the conventicnal
cruciform plan of a Gothic church, The original masonry contract specified
work in quality and appearance equal +d that of the west wing of the

Theological Seminary. A bell tower was piaced acainst the gable end, crowned
by pirnacles and was flanked by handsome Gothic perches. Unfortunately,
these porches have had to be removed for safety as the wood, covered with
a light coating of stucco, had de+ercorafed. They originally contributed
much to the charm of the overall design.

The Church was consecrated on Wash:ngfon s Birthday, in 1838. The
Churchmang in a report of the proceedings, said, the building "had an im-
posing appearance from without'., The taste and beauty of its interior were
considered exceptional. .-

i
The year before the consecration, Trinity Church had presented to St.
Peters the historic wrought iron fence and gates from St. Pauls Chapel.
This graceful eighteenth century |ronwork still exists and serves tfs
original purpose.

Many of the names cn the cornerstone, laid June 29, 1836, are those of
the early residents and property cwners who developed and built tha District.
Clement Clarke Moore as vestryman, Jameés N. Wells, Henry Coggil!l, Chartles
Keeler, Joseph Tucker, J. Ogden and the builder-architect, James W. Smith,
who lived on 21st Street near 10th Avenue. The history of the Chelsea
Historic District and St., Peters Church are inseparable, Clement Clarke
Moore, In 1836, conveyed title to the property to the vestry for one
dollar, in effect cancelling.the rental agreement. He served as church
warden from 1831-1845 and as organist from 1831-1838,

Interior changes have been made over the years and one gift, of particu-
tar interest, is the preseat pulpit, lectern and chancel rail installed in
i833 as a memorial to Don Ailonzo Cushmqn by his family,

The Parish Hall (St. Peters Hall), the third building in The group, was
completed in 1871 in the popular Victorian Cothic style. |Interastingly,
the funds for the construction of the building came from productions of
tabieaux vivants based on Dickens Old Curnost?v Shop, catled"Farley's Wax

‘Works™"and written by Dr. George Payne Ouackenbos, superintendent of the

Sunday School.

By contrast with its earlier neighSors, the Church and the Rectory,
the Parish Hall is an example of a fashionable Victorlan prototype with
its pounfed windows, steep roof and modesf portals.

Nos. 348-358. This handsome row, was built in The ltalianate s+yle in
1853~54 for the children of James N, welis- John R. Wells, Josephine Wetlis,
Emma Welis, Julia A, C. VWells, Mary S. Ciement, and James_N. Walls, Jr.
Cnly two bays wide, set behind the small +front yards, this is one of the
longest and most charming of the rows éf English basement houses to be
found in Chelsea. All have been modified, Today Nos. 348 and 352, both
in materials and in style, are ctosest:i:to the srototype. A% No, 352, the
trownstone has not been resurfaced, and the rusticated ground floor remains,
as does the cast iron work. All the doorvays, except !lo. 358, retain their
original bracketed cornice slabs. Mo. 358 retains its "eared" panzled
doors, but the doors at Nos. 354 and 356 have been remodeied in styles
inappropriate to the individual buuldings and to the row, The group is
enhanced by having retained the original roof cornices on ail the buildings
but, unfortunately,it has lost all the'iron balconies under the parior
floor windows, which would have furfher unified the row.
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WEST 20TH STREET -(Nos. 318-362) Betw. 8th and 9th Aves. . o -

No, 360 was built in the Itallanate style in 1860, for Larned and
Dudiey. Onliy the original propor?ions {similar to the group to the West)
and the inner door enframement remain, after a resurfacing of the front I
that has swept away all the detail. A parapet wall now replaces the
cornlce. : . :

362 was bullt In the Jfalianafe style In 863, for John H. Dykers.

. This house has undoubtedly one of the. best preserved examples of 'a grand
Ital lanate doorway in the District, with its pediment resting on consoles
of foliate design over-an arc hed doorway. The iintels over the windows
and the corbels under the sills add to the documentary value of the.build-
ing. The original doors and ironwork have been replaced. Unforfunafely,
the original brick walls have been stuccoed and scored to simulate brick.
Both the appearance and value of this house would be enhanced if the
present materials and colors were more appropriate to the orlginal

WEST 20TH STREET (Nos. 402-466) Betw, Oth and 10th Aves. R
SOUTH SIDE =~ - ~ - - . S . e

The outstanding feature of this street, and of the Chelsea Historic
District, Is the row, or terrace, consisting of seven Greek Revival houses
built by Don Alonzo Cushman., They display a wealth of architectural detail
and much of their very handsome original ironwork. The hightight of the -
vest end of this street includes some very distinguished |talianate houses
(Mos. 438-450), still very close to their original appearance. The ten
foot deep yards enhance the individual buildings on this side of the sfreet
and contribute -further to the open quatity of the parkfike qrounds of the .
General Theolog:cal Semlnary opposlfe them. ~ . e

No. 402. This apartment-house was built in 1897, in the Neo-colonial
style, for Angelica B. Faber, a member of the Cushman family, on property
originally developed by Don Alonzo Cushman, of whom the building's name
“COHAC" is obviously reminiscent. !t was designed by C.P.H. Gitbert, the
noted architect who designed the Warburg and Stuyvesant mansions on Flfth’
Avenue. |t was skillfully designed, on a narrow lot, and successfully )
accomplished the transition from the deep front yards to the west to the
sidewalk building line fo the east, by means of a concave bay.. The de-
tails include quoins and keystones for the window lintels. :

No. 404, the oldest house in the Chelsea Historic District, was built .
in 1829-30 for Hugh Vialker on fand leased from Clement Clarke Moore for
forty dollars per year. The lease stated that if, during the first seven
years, @ good and substantial house was erected, be!ng two stories or more;
constructed of brick or stone, or having a brick or stone front, the
lessor would pay the full vaiue of the house at the end of the lease.
Walker's Federal style house with brick front wall, iaid in Flemish bond,
was unusual in Chelsea. The original clapboard of one
sidewall is still visible on the east side of the house. These materials
and the general proportions are all that remain of the original Federal
style. Succeeding changes were made at later periods. The doorway was
remodeied In the Greek Revival period but the stylish new pilasters and

entablature were made of wood, not stone. Also, during this period, the
roof was raised and a modillioned roof cornice Installed, as were the
wrought iron railings of the fence and stoop. The parlor floor windows
reoresent later changes made in the Italianate style, which incijude the
cast iron window guards. The leasehold for this property was conveyed
to Hugh VWalker's widow in 1830 and thence to James Wells In 1833,

Nos. 406-418, a handsome row of Greek Revival houses, was buil+t In
i839-40 for Don Alonzo Cushman and is known locally as "Cushman Row"., 1t jg
one  of the most splendid and best preserved uniform rows of town houses
in New York City. Simpler, but as carefully designed, It nonetheless ranks
with the row at the northeast corner of Washington Square,
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CHELSEA H-D

WEST 20TH STREET (Mos. 402-466) Betw. 9th and 10th Aves.

The key to the impressive quality of this row is the ten feot
depth of the front yards. This setback enabled the designer to pro-
duce a monumental effect for the doorway and stoop on buildings only
fwenty-one feet wide. Careful attention o detail adds further to the
overall qual!ity of the design. Mos. 408 and 414 are in perfect condi-
tion, except for the loss of their cast iron candeiabrum-type newe!
costs which once stood on the stone pedestals. These, an emalgam of
Greek motifs crowned with pineapples, remain at Nos. 416 and 418.

The other changes in the row are so few as to constitute a miracie in
averchanging New York.

The attic windows, set in a wide fascia board ornamented with dentils
and bead and reel moldings, are encircled with faurel wreaihs of cast
iron and give an impression of height to the building. The six-ovar-six
windows, the moided !intels and the well proportioned entablatures
carried on Doric pilasters over the doors, are all typical of the best
to be found in the Greek Revival styie. The transom above the doors
and the one-paneted doors are also frimmed with egg and dart and tead
and ree! moldings.

The wrought iron handrailings of the stoops are of an unusually
rich design, often cesn in Chelsea, The vard railings have a Greek
fret pattern at the base, palmettoes as crestings and panels of
lyre-shaped paitern, flanking the gateways, a design which was also
used’at the northeast corner of Washington Square.

Don Alonzo Cushman (1792-1875), who built the row, was the eighth
generation of a Pilgrim family. He was the proverbial farm boy who
came from upstate to New York fo szek his fortune. He established him-
self rather quickly as & successful dry goods merchant on Peari Street.
After his marriage, in 1815, he moved to Hudson Street in Greenwich
Viilage and became associated with Clement Clarkas Mcore and James N. Wells.
In 1833 he bought property in Chelsea and as he felt the Village was be- '
coming crowded, he built a large house set in a spacious garden on Ninth
Avenue, between 20th and Zlst Streets, facing the Seminary, Pauline
Sainsbury, in Cushman Chronicies, a Tale of Old Chelsea, tells thae family
story in detai! and provides glimpses of iife in the mansion. Cushman
helped found the Greenwich Savings Bank and eventually became its
President. In time he retired from Pearl Street znd devoted his time
to banking and real estate, operating from a smali office built adjacent
+o the north side of his house. He is best remembered for this mag-
nificent row of Greek Revival town nouses.

Nos. 420-426 were built in a Classic Eclectic style in 1895-96
for £gan and Hartiey., Neville & Bagge were the zrchitects. These
three apartment houses are on the site of the mansion and gardens buil?
for Charles Keeier about 1836, Neville & Bagge's design of Roman brick
and limestone is a good expression of its own period but it is also
very much in harmony with the !talianate buildings to the west.

No. 428 was built in the Itaifanate style in 1857 for F. X. Mony.
This high stocoped brick and brownstone house retzins its original
window linfels and corbels under the sills on the upper ficors, as well
as its roof cornice, doors, doorway and &usTicaTed basement,

No. 430, one of the early houses in the Chelsea Historic District,
was orlglnatiy built in the Greek Revlval style In 1834 for Floyd Smith.
The facade was remodeled at an unrecorded date, in the italianate manner,
as evidenced by the style of the doorway and [intels (although subse-
quently shaved) and by the well preserved segmental arched windows with
wide center muntins with bead to conform to Its nzishbors, Its original

front was specified in a covenant as the design 7o be followed for the
Ecwin Forrest house on 22nd Street.

No. 432 was built in the lfallanafe style in 1856 57 for the
estate of Stephen Dennis.
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AEST 20TH STREET (Nos. 402-466)1=Be+w 9th and !O?h Aves.

No. 434 was buil+ in the ITaIianaTe +y!e in l856 57 for William
H. Merrill,

These two houses are still in a highly expressive state, notwith- b R

standing the fact that the lintels, sills, entabiature and moldings
disappeared during the resurfacing of +he brownstone fronts, They re-
tain their stoops, arched openings over the doors, windows and cornices.

"In addition, the richly carved doors and molded inner doorway survive .

at No. 432

No. 436 was built In 1835 In the Greek Revival style, for the esfafe
of John N, Smith. This house retains much of its original flavor: the:
simple earty iron railings at the stoop, and that at the yard, the design
used at the Cushman row, the six-over~six paned windows and the attic
windows set in the fascia. The inner doorway, altered with |talianate
style doors, still retains its transom,. lights and part of the original
Greek Revival pilasters, although there Is no entablature. The original
flfuted stone pedestals at the base of the stoop are notable featurss of
this house,- : :

Nés. 438, 440 and 442 were buift in the Ifal!anafe-sfy!e in 1853-54 '
for John Colllns, Wasson & "Ingles and Harvey Randail respectively. These
houses are the most authentic examples of this type of two-bay English-
basement dwelling in the Chelsea Historic District. The brownsfone trim
has not been resurfaced, and other changes have been minor. = No. 422 is

closest o the protofype. They refa:n their handsome ironwork.

‘No..444 was built .in the I+aliana+e ‘style in 1853- 54. for wllliam
Fanning, This i{s another fine example of the high~stooped itallianate
house, which retains most of its originat elements, which include the
cornice ornamented with modiltions, the windows,the rusticated basement,
and the inner doorway and doors with octagonal panals. Unfortunately:
the door enframement has been shaved off flush and the cast iron rail-
ings have been replaced. L h

Nos. 446, 448 and 450 were also buil+ in . the !?a!uana?e sfyle in
1854-55, for Caleb O'Terrelt. Like the group at Nos. 438-442; these
are among the most-authentic italianate rusticated English- basemen+
nouses with.arched windows and doors.. Here the stone has been smooth-
stuccoed but The Important detaits, the moldings around the doors and-
windows have been carefuily restored. All retain their cornices, lin-
tels, and arched paneled doors. The only original window in the row
is on the first floor at No. 448. No. 446 has a sample of the original
Ironwork at its low stoop. The unpainted brick at No. 448 shows the
richness of its true color, :

Nos. 452, 454 and 456 were built in the |falianate style in 1853
for Ellas Wassau, James Ingles and James Barmore.

Originally these three houses were simllar in appearance to those
at Nos. 438~442 but after an ill-advised remodel ing Nos, 452 and 456
have little relation to their originat designs or To the character of
the west end of the block. .

No. 458 was built in the Greek Revival style in 1845 for Henry
Barclay. The stoop has been removed and a story added. The building
retains some of its orlginal six-over-six windows and lintels to in-
dicate.its original character.

Mos. 460-466. Filling station described under Nos. 152-160 Tenth
Avenue.

U . - G oawm rmnmer i % s sambiam e e

.“- T o e




CHELSEA H-D" o .

TENTH AVENUE (Nos. 152-192) Betw. West 19th and West 22nd Sts,

Mos. 152-160 {Nos, 460-466 'Yest 20th Strect) is an open tot occu-
pied by a centrally tocated tight colored brick filling station with
a large marquise In front, A low brick wall, with a row of blind
arches fecing West 20th Street, extends along the north side.

The quality of this filling station could be greatiy improved
through the use of carefully designed peripheral brick planter boxes
and ivy, which could be grown up to cover the biank brick end wall of
the tast row house on the east side. In every Historic District It is
important for the-commercial building to be well designed, and this
can be achieved with The heip of a deslgn advisory board.

Nos. 162-186 1s the west end of the General Theological Seminary
property (Chelsea Square) described under No. 175 Ninth Avenus.

Nos. 1B8-192 was built in the Queen Anne style in 1890-1891 for
Mary Q*Sullivan, following the design of Andrew Spence, The archl-
tect, The iron columns at the ends of the first floor are of the French
contemporary Neo-Grec style, The design and execution of the brick-
woirk is exceptionaliy fine.,. The Queeni Anne style is admirably suited
to this type of small apariment building which is onfy fwenty feet
deep. with shops on the ground floor, . :

WEST 21ST STREET (Nos. 473-401). Betw. 9th & |0th Aves.

NORTH SIDE

The majority of the houses on +h|s street were built in l852 54,
and are vine examples of richness and variety in the Itallanate sfyle.
The apariment buildings have besn successfully incorporated into the
aspect of the biock, maintaining the sétback which forms front yards
extending the !engfh of the street. These "front vards' when tand-
scaped and planted with spring flowers, providz an unusually pieasant
{eature along the strest where they enliven not only the houses to
which They belong, but the dignified rear elevation of the Ceneral
Theological Seminary buildings opposate.

|

No. 473 was built for William Smith in 1833,
No. 471 was built for Matilda Browne in 1853,

No. 469 was bullt for Eduard Esler in 1853.

No. 467 was built for William Wiltiams in 1853,
No. 465 was built for P. H. Williams In 1853.

This distinguished row was built of brick with brownstone trim in
the early !talianate style and is one of the best designed and pre-
served rows in Manhattan. It clearly shows the multipiier effect that
an individual house, close to its original condition, can exert in
enhancing “ihe row as a whole and Thereby enhance itseif., The fine cast
iron yard railings remain. '

No. 471 of the row is the closast to its original appearance and
ray be considered the prototype. |1 maintains the simple bracketed
rcof cornice, windows, doubie hung sash, with a broad vertical muntin
designed to simulate casement windows; lintels and even window guards.
It also has the characteristic simple bracketed entablature over the
deorway, the cruciform paneled doors,;and the cast iron raiting at
-tha low stoop and yard. :

No. 463 was built in the Greek Revival style in 1836, for John
McVickar, a teacher at the Gensral Theological Semlnary., This was
the first house built on the street and stood alone for many years.
Clemeni Clark, Mour e cunveyed this lot Movember {, 1834, to John
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WEST 21ST STREET (Nos. 473-401) Betw. 9th & 10th Aves. -

McYickar as part of a tract 197 'x 125 extending to.the corner of Tenth
Avenue, The size and scale of the house are still Imposing. The brick
is laid In Flemish bond, unusual in Chelsea. The shadows of the pedi-
mented window lintels and of the attic windows, cut into the deep fascia'
board, bring out the details. The deeply rus+1caTed basement 2nd pilas- -
tered doorway indicate that this house was built in a manner rether
uncommon in the Greek Revival style - with an English basement, instead’
of a high stoop . Simllar buildings were built on the wesf side of

Tenth Avenue, ‘ : i

-Nos. 4861 and 459 were built in the ITaIIanaTe style in 1854, for
Thomas Cummings and Philip H. Williams respecfive!y.

Nos. 457 and 455 were built in the {talianate sfyle in 1854, for
John Pollack and William H, Smith respec?Ively.

These four handsome brownstone houses Illustrate two of the basic
ttal fanate styles iIn Chelsea. Nos. 461 and 459 are Two bays wide with -
rusticated English-bosements. -No. 459-has a paneled double door and a
doorway with rope trim. The.modern dcorf.at No. 461 is out of harmony with
the buifding and with its neighbor and detracts from the overal! design.
Both houses have handsome keystones above the tirst floor arched doors
and windows supporting a band course above the rustication. Both retain
their roof cornices with paired brackets at the center. A cast iron
handrailing in-a popular design, flanks the low stoop. Mos. 457 and 455
are typical of the high stooped -house in the |talianate style. No. 455
has lost the stone trim at the windows and the entablature over the -
doorway, but retains its roof cornice, the doorway, and the cast lron
railings at both sftoop.and yard. No. 457 has been.similariy altered,
and has also lost Its cornice and stoop. The fifth floor has been '

‘raised and the cornice removed.

No. 453 was built in the 'talianate style in 1852-53 for the Reverend.
E. D. Smith. Unlike its neighbors, Nos. 455.and 457, .its grand doorway
has been preserved., An imposing cornice slab, carried on stuccoed :
console brackets, over the arched doorway, sTlll crowns the high sfoop
The cast iren railings at the stoop and yard still remain.

Nos. 451, 449.and 447 were built in the Italianate style in 1856-57,

for J. J. Craig. No. 449 remains closest to its original appesrance

In this group. !+ retains its rusticated English basement, part of the -
follated bracket in the keystone of the arched doorway, and the roof
cornice. The original doors remain at No. 45I and all three refasn
their lron railings.

No. 445, This apartment house was buil+ in 1897-99 in a Renaissance
style in the Eclectic period for William W, Gallagher. Nevilie & Baogge
were the architects. Built of Roman brick and stone, forty years after
its Italianate neighbors, the scale and design of the lower floors of
this building harmonize unusually wei! with its neighbor to the west.
This is a handsome apartment house in its own right.

Nos. 443 and 441 were built in the ltalianate style in 1853-{854.
for Villiam G. Lyons. The design of these two buildings shows a resource-
fuiness in adapting the design to the size of the lot. The narrower
building, No. 443, in a simple early Italianate style, is very much in
scale with the width of its lot. The stoop has been removed, but the
cornice, windows, and brick with brownstone trim, indicate the original
style. No, 441 was bullt as a grand high-stooped ltalianate house with
an elaborately enframed door, which was fortunately refained when the
stoop was removed to provide a basement entrance.

No. 439 was buiit in the Italianate style in 1853 for S. H. Turner.
1t retains its proportions, handsome cornlice, and windows in the upper
stories To indicate its original style. 1In appearance it is quite
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WEST 2iST STREET (MNos. 473-401) Betw. 9th & (O0th Aves,

similar to No, 443.

Nos. 437-429, This large apartment, houss was built for Consumer
Cooperative Services, Inc, in 1230. Springsteen & Goldhammer were thea
architects., Here the architects were successful in incorporating a
puilding of farge size and contemporary design into a mid-nineteanth
century block. It is notable for its design, the well selected brick,
the excellent brickwork, and the scale of the stee! casement windows,
with slightly recessed spandreis to gaveufhp impression of brick pilas-
ters between them, in keeping with the rhythm of the row. The facade is
saT behind a p!anfed front yard which biends with the rest of the sireet.

|

Nos. 427 and 425 were built in the |talianate style in 1853, for
Edwin Forrest. This pair, despite subsequent alterations, are very
impressive and retain much of their original design. Both have their
paneled roof cornices supported on consoles and their original windows
{except at the parlor floor of No. 423)., No. 425 retains its deeply
rusticated basement and the arched molding of its original doorway with
a keystone. On the other hand, No. 427 retains its stoop and fine,
paneled doors, with handsoms bosses set in a rops-tfrimmed and paneled
door frame. - !

Nos., 423-419 was buiit in 1938 for the Straight improvement Co.,
Inc.; Voorhees, Gmelin and Walker were the architects. This aparftment
house, six stories high, is in scale with the houses on the block., The
architects, furthermore, designed a facade which harmonizes with the
character of the block. The red brick, the six-over-six windows, and
other details are also in scale. \

Nos. 417, 415 and 413 were built in:The Gresk Revival styile, in
(843, for James Phelan. All three of these houses have been altered.
No. 413 still retains its stoop and a modified doorway. The iron
castings in the wrought iron handrailing at the stoop of No. 413, and
at the fence of No. 417, are unusual dﬂSlgns. Unfortunately, a "dog
house" Type entry in The front yard of No. 417 projects beyond the uni-
form set-back building line of the rest of the street.

Nos. 411409 were built in the ITaIiana?e style in 1852-53 for
H. E. Smith and J. W. Smith respectively. These two brownstone houses
were probably once similar in appearance to Nos. 405 and 407 but
several alterations have shorn the facades of all ornament.

No. 407 was built in the ltalianate style, in 1852, for Joseph
Pogers. The complete brownstone doorway of this house is one of the
best preserved in the Chelsea Historic District and is the only one
of this design. The pediment above the arch of the doorway rests on
modified console brackets. Set into the keystone of the arch is a
classical female head, The brownstone enframement around the doorway,
with its well preserved moldings, adds rlchness. The inner doorway
end the double doors, with hexagonal panels, complete the whole.
Pansling on the sfeps of the stoop is another refinement.

No. 405 was built in the ltalianate style in 1852-3, for John G.
Davis. A superb example of the grand lItalianate brownstone, this house
may be considered one of the purest exasmplies of this style In the Chelsea
Historic District. Here, the original lintels, sills, corbels, rusti-
cated basement, doorway entablature and enframement all remain. In
addition, the roof cornice, windows {(except on the parlor floor), iron

"railings and inner doorway with rope molding survive, Only the

paneled entrance doors have been replaced. This is the last setback
lhouse on the eastern end of the street.,
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WEST 21ST STREET (Nos. 473-401) Betw. 9th & 10th Aves.

No. 403 was originally bullt in the Classical Revival style in 1889
for William Mulgrew; J. August Lienau, was the architect. He was the
son of the famous Detlief Lienau, a founder of the Amerlcan Institute of
Archltects. Unfortunately, the original facade has been destroyed and
the building stuccoed, The original drawings show a flne design that
would have been much iIn sympathy with the Italianate houses to the wes+

No, 40I is discussed under Mo, I83 Hinth FVonue.

WEST 21ST STREET (Nos. 359-347) Betw. Bth & 9th Aves..

That small portion of the street which 1s included in the Chelsea
Historic District, East of Ninth Avenue, is composed of a group of
buildings all built within a few years of one another, and, desplite _
alterations, stitl expressive of their original characfer - The Iron- L
work here. is most unusual bo?h in n+s quantity and in its excellen# , S
condition, - . _ .

NORTH SIDE
No. 36| is described under No. 180 Ninth Avenus.

Nos. 359 and 357 were built for George Clark in I851, In a style
which was transitional. from Greek Revivai fo Italianate. Bofh houses
retain their original cornlces with moditlions and the low attic win=- :
dows and the iron raillings, all characteristic of the Greek Revival .
styte. No. 357 still has its original windows except at the attic - '
tloor. While the doors at No. 359 are of a later date, they are more . ]
appropriate to the style of the building, than those of ‘its Twln. o : ' - w

No. 355 was buiit in the Greek Revival style In [848-49 for William
. Williams. A well preserved example of its style, this house retains its
original windows, doorway and stoop, with its original iron railings.

A proper Greek Revival door would enhance the entrance. The heavy cor--
nice was added later in the ninefeenth century.

.-No. 353 was buitt in 185} for G. Sherman in a style trensitional
from Greek Revival to ltalianate. This house stitl retains its fine
proportions,modiltioned cornice, styic of wintows and panelell enTrance

door. UnforTunaTely If'has lost 1ts origlinal lronwork.

No. 351 was bull+ in the Gresk Revuval style in 1847-8 for P. H.
Williams, , |

No. 349 was built in the Greek Revival style in 1846, for William
H. Smith. Originally very similar in appearance, these two houses
retain their original stoops and Iron railings. No. 351 displays Its
fine original dentlied cornice, but the dormers at No. 349 were re-
moved when an additional sfory, with high parapet, was recently added.
This parapet breaks the unlform cornice tine of the entire group.

No. 347 was built In the Italianate style in 1859 for Michael
Mul ligan. The facade of this house is still dominated by its well
preserved |talianate segmental arched doorway, with cornice resting _
on a foliated keystone. The addition of a skyllight between the
dormers and behlnd the elaborate cornice, has been so successfully
inserted that it.1s all but invisible from the street. !
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YWEST 228D STREET (Mos. 400-482) Betw. 9th & (0Th Aves.

This street was built up eariy in the Greesk Revival period and four
manslons faced the grounds of Clemeni Clarke Moore's '"Chelsea". Two of
these remain, the James N. Vigils houss at Mo. 414-416 and the Edwin
rorrest house at Wo. 436. Today, at the east end of the street siands
an ltailiarate row of houses built by James Welts on his grounds., At the
west end is located the attractive new multi-level neighborhood park

. named for Clerent Clarke {oore.

SCUTH SIDE

Nos. 400-412 were built in fthe ltalianate style in 1856 for Jlames N,
“ells. This row is similar in style o the houses teilt by Yelts in
1852-3 on West 20th Street (Nos. 348-358}. This row again illusirates
how charming @ group of narrow houses c¢an be when designed with English
basements and small doorways. E£ach house has its original rcof cornice
and five retain their original dormer windows. The attic floor provides
extra living space in houses which are just a little more than fourteen
feet wide, : . . .

Mo, 408 is the prototyne of these seven houses, retaining all of the
original elements of its facade except the window lintels and sash, which
may be seer in thelr original condition at MNo. 406 next door. HNo., 404,
alone, retains its original doors. Originally bafconies served the parlor
floor windows of these. housas, however, the balcony at No. 404 is a modern
replacement. Uniform painting, appropriate to the original fabric, would
considerably enhance the appearance of this row. The entrances at MNos.
400 and 402 have been altered to oprovide access at grade level.

Ho. 414-416 was built in the Greek Revival style in 1835 for James
. wWells who lived there until 1841, and again from 1855 until his death.

An old house of such grand size (44 feet wide) always arouses curio-
sity in Manhattan, and this building is .no exception, T is the only
five bay Greek Revival house. surviving in Manhattan, and was one of the

_original splendid mansions built in Chefsea. The vestiges of elegance

of this house reflect a remodeling, In I864-1866, in the then stylish
Italianate manner., A alass plate necative of 1903 at the New York
distorical Society shows the present mansard roof, dormers, roof cornice
and parior floor windows. In addition, it then had the characteristic
arched doorway crowned with a heavy entablature, stone lintels and
moldings around the windows, and a balustraded baicony at each parior
ficor window to match the stoop.

James N. Vells, Jr. sold the house, and those at 418 and 420 (now a
parking lot), to the Samaritan Home fér.the Aged in 1875. This became
the first permenent home for this then relatively new institution founded
by irs. John HeVickar., :

The Salvation Army, which had been using it as a shelter for women,
bought the building in 1937, A plan filed by +hem with the Buildings
Oepartment in {930 shows how wel! suited the original! layout was for
small institutional use. Since 1953 it nas been classified as a
rcoming house.

James N. ¥ells, carpenter and later a builder, was already well
established by the time he moved from Hudson Street to Chelsea in 1833,
He was associated with Clement Clarke Moore at least as early as 1821,
when he buitt St. Luke's Chaps!l of which Moore was a prominent parishioner.
ot long after this Wells became the manager of the "Chelsea' estate.
ln 1826 he built the handsome Federal houses adjacent to St. Luke's
Chepel and, in the last years of this decade, he served the Minth Ward
as assistant alderman and later as alderman. We know little about his
activities in Chelsea. He e¢stablished his real estate office on Ninth
tvenue,which may have been an outgrowth of his management of Moore's
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CHELSEA H-D

WEST 22ND STREET (Nos. 400-482) " Betw. 9th & 10th Aves.

- B ‘ . ]
properties. His own two residences are extant, as are his offices and
two rows of l|taliasnate houses. The firm itself is stiill actively en-
gaged in the real estate business on 23rd Street today.

Nos. 418-420 is now a parking lot.

No.. 422 was built in the Greek Revival style in 1835 for Joseph
Tucker., Typical of the first houses built in the Chelsea Historic
District, this bullding still retains its massive brownstone door en-
framement with a heavy entablature resting on Doric pilasters. The
front door, a recent reptacement, is out of character with the buiiding
and is set in an enframement equally out of harmony. The pltched roof is
visible from the adjacent parking lot. This house rétains‘also’ I?s fine
lintels, windows, .-roof cornice and Interesting ironwork. : .

. Nos. 424, 426 and 428 were bui|+ in 1he Greek Rev1val sfyle :n I843
for James Phelan.

Mos. 430, 432 and 434 were buiIT in the Greek Revival sfyie In I843
for Edwin Forresf .

This row of six houses was paired with a similar row direct!ly be-
hind it on West 21st Street. Although there have been numerous altera-
tions over the years, it is possible here To reconstruct an almos?
comple?e profofype.

Nos. 424, 426 and 428 have many of their original features. They
retain the characferis*ic door enframemént, the original dentiled cornice
(except at Nos. 424 and 434), the rus?ica+ed basement at Nos. 424 and
426, a comptete set of Iiron railings, including newel posts on pedestals
and the original window lintels at Mo. 428, MNo original door remains

in tThis row,

Later nineteenth century additions are the mansard roof, crowned by
a delicate iron cresting at ilo. 424; an inner doorway in the {talianate
style at No. 432 and an American bay window on the first floor at MHo.
434, No. 434 was once incorporated into No. 436-438.

No. 436-438 was built in the Greek -Revival style in 1835 for James
Coggill.” Today this Greek Revival Mansion is called "The Edwin Forrest
House", honoring the famous actor who lived there from 1838 to 1849,
According to Forrest's biographer, Richard Mooney, the actor bought the
house to escape his in-laws. Forrest had returnod from a theatrical
four, in the fait of 1839, to his home on Reade Street, with his young -
English bride., He found that his In-laws and Their two children had
errived for a visit and were living there. His housekeeper told him
that Ythe place had been filled with scenes of revelry and disorder
during his absence." Upon his wife's refusal to send her parents away,
he asked a friend, named Lawson, to find him & house, and Lawson speedily
jocated this house on West 22nd Street. Forrest moved in with a minimum
of furniture, leaving the rest behind for the comfort of his in-jaus,
Title was conveyed to him, en August 31, 1839, when he purchased fthe house
and four lots.

Forrest lived here untit he and his wife separated, prior fto the
noterious divorce proceedings. He sold the house, March I, 1836, to
Phitippe Pistor, a son-in-law of Don Alonzo Cushman, and the Pistor
family of twelve |ived there for a number of years. -Christian Herter,
designer and head of Herter Brothers, the famous firm of Interior decora-
tors, lived here from 1871-76. In 1870 he had bought out his brother's
share in Herter Brothers and launched his own decorating company. Ouring
the following decade, his commissions as interior designer, and some-
times as architect, were executed for such notables as Mark Hopkins
William Henry Vanderbiit.and J. P. 1organ
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CHELSEA H-D

WEST 22ND STREET (Nos. 400-482) Betw. 9th & [Qth Aves.

Mrs. Pistor sold the house, in 1879, to the James f. Drummond
famiiy. A photograph taken shortly thareafter shows a 'charming Victorian
family grouped on the back porch and steps feading to the garden.

The Drummonds lovingly maintained the interior of the house, even
insuring that the door enframement of an elevator, installed in 1932, wa

Greek in style, The family sold the house in 1945 and it was converted

into apartments.
The Historic American Buiidings Survey documented this house in 1934

with photographs and measured drawings. The doorway, second bay from ine

east, before The removal of the stoop, was simitar to that of the James

M. Welis house at Ninth Avenue and West 20th Street, with a heavy entab-

lature resting on fluted Doric columns. The door itself, set in 2

fypical Greek Pgvival inner doorway, is one-paneled !ike the Cushman row

on ¥West 20%th Street. The finfels had cap moidings and the basement win-

dows were framed with stone. - .

No, 440 was built in the Greek Revival style in 1835-36 for Samuei
Turner, a member of the facuity at the General Theological Seminary and
a founder of S+. Peter's Church., The originai front of this house was
prabably- very similar to that of Mo, 422 West 22nd Street, as it was
built at The same time. The present appearance probably da?es from
1882 when plans were filed for an |n+er|or renovation. The heavy bracketed
cornice, sheetmetal window enframements, sills with corbels, ons-over-one
windows, the stone pedimented door enframement and the handsome double
doors with carved panels beneath the plate glass, present a completa Queen
Anne facade of the early 1880s. The stoop and areaway railtings with their
Greek fret-work at the bottom and anthemion crestings glve an indication
of The original style of this house. _ :

No. 442 was built 1846-47 for Samuel'Turner., This house has a stark
naw facade which gives no hint of ifs original appearance. The fenes-
tration is totally unreiated to the size of the building and to its
neighbors, |

No. 444 was buiit in the Greek Revival style, in 1835-36, for Clement
Clarke Moore., It retains the gensral characteristics of its style, win-
dows and ironwork; and, most important, the attic windows set in a ceep
frieze board beneath ?he cornice, although slightiy enlarged in 1922, zre rare
survivors. At a later date, the original: Greek Revival 3nner doorway was
moved back in its opening. |

Nos. 445 and 448 were built in the ltalianate style in 1854 for
William Berrian. No. 448 had the top three floors of its front wall
tzken down and rebuilt with fwo windows per floor, instead of one, as
ray be seen at No. 446, a good examplie of ,how a seemingly simple aitera-
tion can change the characfer ot a building., Both refain the rustica- ~
tion of the English basement. The doors of both houses are of the period
although they differ,

No. 450 was built in the Greek Revival style in about 1835 for
Thecdore and Daniel Martine. ,

\ :

Like its nsighbor, at No. 444 West 22nd Stree’, this house reTains
the general characteristics of the Greek Revival style. Again note
should be made of the low atfic windows set in the fascia board on which

an =gg and dart molding still survives. The richly patterned hand-
railings and newel posTs at the stoop remain,

No. 452 was built in the Greek Revuval style in 1835 for Benjamin

Coar. The facade of this building was completeiy redone in the neo-
Colonial sfyie in 1896 which makes it a most interesting document of
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WEST 22ND STREET (Nos. 400—489) -Befw. 9th & IOth Aves.

that time. The surface has bean recenfly cleaned and a stock Colonial
basement doorway added.

No. 454, the L. Monette Apartments, was bu:|+ in a neo-Renaissance
style In I897 for Wiltiam Gallagher with Nevilie & Bagge as architects.
The - architects, in their usual competent manner, designed this tenement .
building in a style which ls generally harmon10us with the block.

No. 456 was built in the Greek Revival style, in 1839 for iaria
Gilfort. This house was recently remodeted neither in characfer quh its
original style nor with that of the block, : :

No. 458 was buiit in the Italianate style in 1854 for J. S. Bosworth.
Only the cornice and windows remain®to indicate the orlgnnal style of
*this house. : :

No. 460 was built in the Italianate style in 1854 for Henry Lilleck,
A charmlng two-bay English basement house, it was never part of 2 group.
it is In its original condition, except for the cornuce, windows and
ironwork,

Nos. 462-482 is a small multilevel piay-park-named for Clement Clarke
toore. This attractive park was designed by Paul M. Friedberg, Landscape -
Architect, and was compteted in 1968.

MINTH_AVENUE (Nos. 150-180) & (Nos. 195~159) Betw. W. 19th & 4. 22nd Sts.

Historically Ninth Avenue, which was opened up .in 1816, has always
. been the heart of the Chelsea Historic District, dominated from the

. beginning by ihe Gencral Theological Seminary which occupied Chelsea
Square. (Between 9th and 10th Avenuss and 20th and ZIst Sfreefs)

Close inspection reveals {ittle fundamental change in the appear-
ance of the Avenue since the mid-nineteenth century, exept in those
changes in the Chelsea Square block itself. The Cushman house and
gardens, opposite Chelsea Square, have been replaced by a large turn-
of-the century. apartment house, and a taller 1927 building, both out-
side the Cheisea Historic District and designed by C. P. H. Gitbert.
The 1960 Genera! Theological Seminary |ibrary and Administration
Building replaced a handsome eariier building desugned by Charles
Ceolidge Haight, the architect of most of the remaining Sem:nary
buildings.

The east side of the Avenue, from 19th to 20th Street, fortunataly
retains a row of dwellings built with shops on the ground ficor, and
one of the most impressive Greek Revival houses in the District, namely
that of James N. Wells.

The. focal polnt, on the west side of the Avenue, Is the pitched
roof house on the northwest corner of 2ist Street, next to three small
wooden buildings., This block was the site of three successive offices
of James N. Wells., The other buildings, with the exception of the
Marble House near |9th Street, are built of brick with shops on the
ground floor, or with first floors later remodeled Inte shops. The
Avenue still serves the neighborhood as its shopping center.

NlNTH AVENUE (Nos. 150-180) Betw. West 19th & Yest 22nd Sts.
EAST SIDE |

Nos., 150-158 were built in the loca! vernacular, in 1852, for James
., Edgar. These buildings were constructed with shops on the ground
flooirs and dwellings above, to meet the daily needs of the shopkeepers
and fo serve The growing population in the neighborhood. Today, Mo, 158
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CHELSEA H-D

NINTH AVENUE (Nos. 150-180) Eetw. West 19th & West 22nd Sts.

is closest to the prototype, with its modiliioned cornice and six-over~
six windows at the dweiling fioors. The entry to the upper fiocors,set
to one side, still retains a fine rope molding in its enframement. A
brownstone |intal, above the shop front, is supported on pilasters at
the ends and by intermediate cast iron columns at the interior, flanking
the shop entrance. Thlis shop has projecting show windows and double
doors which may be the originals. Its neighbor, No. 156, still retains
a brownstone platform in front of the side entrance which may once have
extendad the width of the buildirg. |t also retains part of a cast iron
raiting with newel.

No. 160 was buift in the !talianate style, in 1860, for Francis
tarned. The originat trim, around the entry fo the upper ficors, and
the arched transom above it, are the orly clues to its original style.
The design of the present shop front, however, utiiizing as it does
the original cast. iron columns, is most sympathetic with the buiiding.

No. 162, at the cornar of 20th Street, Is a handsome residencs
built in the Greek Revival style in 1834 for James N. Yells, who lived
there from 1842 to 1854. 1t is one of the earliest houses buiit in
the Chelsea Historic District, and certainiy one of the most splendid,
even today notwithstanding numerous alterations. |+ was architectur-
ally important when built, as Clement C!arke Moore included it in a
covenant controlling design in the conveyance to John McVickar for
his lots on Tenth Avenue and on 2ist Street.

The wide doorway, similar in appearance to those on tashington
Square northeast, flanked by freestanding fluted Doric columns, and
surmounted by an entablature, is still .impressive. The stons hos been
well maintained. The pedimented !intels, so characteristic of the
early Greek Revival style, were dupllcafed when the building was ralsed
a story.

No. 180 was built in the Greek Revival style, in 1848, for George
Clark, Originally built as a dwelling, with a shop at the ground floor,
this building retains its original cornice above the remodeled shop
front, its windows and handsome window guards., The entry to the upper
floors, on 2lst Street, has been altered but retains its iron railings.
The extension, at the rear, was added within a decade of the dete of

the arection of the building.

NINTH AVENUE (Nos. 195-159) Betw. ¥West 22nd & West 19th Sts.

WEST SIDE

No, 195 was built as an extension to No. 400 West 22nd Street. No
record of the date of itTs construction.has been found in Buiiding De-
partment records. This undistinguished one story building now serves
as a store. '

Mo. 193 was built in 1856-58 for James N, Wells, Alterations make
it impossible to determine +the original appearance of this building
which was constructed as a dwelling. The first available Building
Depariment records indicate that it was five stories high with a store
on the ground floor. ’

No. 19! was built in 1836 for James N, Wells with an office on the
ground floor and dwelling above. {1 may once have been similar in
appearance To Nos. 150-158 Ninth Avenue and was Vells' third office
on the block. -

Nos. 189-i87 were also built about 1868 for James N. Wells,

No, 185 was built about [856 for James N. Wells

These three smail wooden buildings bring a Touch of nostalgia fo
the District, as wooden buildings characteristically do, wherever they
survive in Mauha?tan. the projecling show window, the entry fo the
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CHELSEA H-D ‘

NINTH AVENUE (Nos. 195-159) 'Be?w:'Wss? 22nd é'WGsT 19th Sts..- 7

floor above, at No. 187, the paneted cornice with Jig-saw brackets at
Nos. 187 and 189, are most appropriate to the building dates. An old .
photograph shows a six~paned show window at Mo, (87. From 1840 to
1856, James N, Weltls' second office occupled a part of the rear por?uon
of The lots of these stores. (Nos..187 and 189}, T

{ No. I83 (also No.'dOl West 2ist Street) was built inm I831-1832 for

a Mr. Royer. This house and St. Peters Rectory follow No. 404 West 20th
Street as the second and third ofdest buitdings. in the Historic District,
but this butlding is the only one retaining the proportions and some
characteristics of the Federal style. The corner site provides an unus-
ual opportunity to view the pitched roof from four sides. It is the
pitched roof, the brick faid in Flemish bond, the simply. paneled fascia
board benea?h the roof cornice (a rare survlvor) the dormer windows
although altered, the low water table and the side entry that are
Federal in sTyle. The side entrance is an excellent exampie of the
Federal style and probably old, although it was installed in +hls house
atter the original cons?rucflon. .

If,canno? be defermined whether the ground floor shop was part of

the original construction, or whether it was added shortly after the
building was erected. :

James N. Wells lists this address as his home in the years 1833 and
. 13834, and his office elsewhers. But in the following year, 1835,
Theodore Martine had a grocery, fiour and feed store at this address and
. James N. Wel-is had his office on Ninth Avenue between 2Ist and 22nd
Streefs. As no other building existed on the block at that time, his
office myst have been located in the’ upper floors of this’ buuidzng,
where he maintained it unfli 1839. :

A 1903 glass negative, at The New York Historical Society, shows
this building, and the three adjacent wooden buildings with contindous’
awnings extending over the sidewatk to the curb. Iron railings In .the
Italianate style flank the small side entry, '

No. 175. The Episcopal General Theoliglcal Seminary occupies a
central location in the Chelsea Historic District and an important
place In its daily life. Set in its own ample grounds, Chelsea Square,'
the buildings effectively enfroame a cempus which, with its old trees
and tawns, provides a cool setting of greenery during the summer months.

What we see today, with the exception of the "West Building™, has
onty been In existence since the 1880s -~ the result of the labors of a
dedicated dean, who, with his architect, conceived a master plan and
brough+ It Info being.

Acfuelly,‘*he Seminary had a very tenuous beginning, dating from
i817, when a General Convention of the Episcopal Church brought I+
into being. It was at this time that John Henry Hobart, Bishop of New
York, announced that Ciement Clarke Moore, son of Benjamin Moore, New
York's first bishop, had cffered about sixty lots of his family esfa?e
as a site for the proposed new Seminary,. .

The conveyance of what is now the grounds of the Seminary (i.e.
Chelsea Square), dated December 17, 1817 is an Interesting document
as It sets.forth the purpose of the Seminary as follows: "C. C, Moore
to Bishop Hobart, for one dotlar, the block at Greenwich to promote,
gstablish and to aid in the endowment and support of a Seminary or
Institution for the education of young men designed for Holy Orders in
The Protestant Episcopal Church in the United States of America, tTo be
located either upon the land granTed or some part of it, or elsewhere '
within the diocese.™

I+ was not until the spring of 1819 that classes were held in the
basement of St. Pauls Chapel. In 1820 an unexpected event ook piace
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NINTH AVENUE (Nos. 195-159) Betw. West 22nd & Wést 19th Sts,

with the removal of the Seminary to Mew Haven, where it remained unti)
1822, at which time, upon its return to New York, it leased two srail
rooms in the lower floor of Salint Johns Chapel on Varick Street, It
was also in this year that an Act of Incorporation established the
Seminary on a secure footing. .

In 1824, the Seminary decided to buiid its ovin building upon the
ground which Moore had given them in Chelsea, and, on July 28, 1825,
the cornerstone was laid for the "East Building". A controversy had
arisen as to whether it should be Classical or.Gothic In style ernd
Bishop Hobart prevailed upon the commiitee to make it Gothic. Cn
Cctober |, 1827 the Seminary moved from St. Johns Chzpel to Chelsea,
but wit h1n five years accommodations were found inadequate, with stu-
dénts bourding on Eighth Avenue. As a result, work was begun in 1334
on a second building, the "West Building®, simi!ar to the "East Build-
ing" except for the addition of a cellar. It was completed in 1336,

Both of these stone buildings were early exampies of The Gothic
Revival in New York and displayed, when built, an interesting array
of buttresses and, at the roof, crenelated parapets and conical turrets
of wood. The conventional rectangular window opanings were Gothicized
through the addition of low pointed arches of weod at the heads. The
"East Building” was razed in 1892 to make way for the three professors'
houses which are located close to 20th Street. The "West Building”
as seen today, although shorn of its wooden roof trimmings, is s¥ill
2 fine academic buliiding. When these two buildings were first erected
the Hudson River ran through the western end of the grounds of the
Seminary. Later landfills, extending to Twelfth Avenue, have belonged
to the Seminary and, as deve!oped, yielded handscme revenues, .

The almost magical completion of the seminary buildings and Chapel
we know tcday, within a space of twenty years, was the work of Dean
Eugene Augustus Hoffman and his architect Charles Cooiidge Haight.

Dean Hoffman, who served from 1879 to 1902, was quite literally
a gentleman and a scholar. Descended from the Verplancks, Van
Cortlandts and Storms he enjoyed enviable connections, not only within
his immediate family, but in the roster of his friends who included the
Venderbilts, Cuttings, Satteriees, Gerrys and Pierreponts, most of whom
he could call upon, at one time or ancother, to help realize his cream
of a great Seminary. As a scholar, he wit! be remembéred as a noted
bibliophile who made the library of the Seminary what it is Yoday.

It was this new dean who, in January 1880, called a meeting of
noted clergymen and many of his friends referred 1o above, with the
avowed purpose of raising a quarter of a miliion dotlars to keep the
Seminary going. Twenty-five thousand dollars was raised that evening,
the gift of a single man, thus beglinning that long succession of endow-
ments by which the Seminary was destined to erect its new buildings.

Quite logically, Dean Hoffman turned to architect Charles Ceolldge
Haight, who had renovated the "West Building" in 1872, Haight zlso
had the advantage of being the son of Benjamin isaac Haight, first
Rector of nearby Saint Peters Church. He had begun in 1867, special-
izing in country houses and churches, and had just completed the notable
work he did for Cofumbia Coiflege at Madison Avenue and 50th Street,
which he had commenced in 1874. Consequently, it came a5 no surprise
when Dean Hoffman calied him in to prepare a master plan for the
General Theclogical Seminary in keeping with its ecclesiastical dig-
nity. This was a great opportunity to carry out one of the most
comprehensive institutionat plans of the latter part of the ceniury
and Haight knew exactly what Dean Hoffman meant when he specified:
“... a complex of buildings more in harmony with modern refinement.”

The plan Haight submitted, in I883' was so comprehensive that it
vas thought that it would ?ake many years for its realization, but,
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through the energetic administration and drive of Dean Hoffman, it was
lergely completed before his death in 1902, Here, Haight had a2 greater,

.opportunity than he had had in designing the Columbia academic buildings,

as this group was to include dormitories in addition to the academic
facilities. Montgomery Schuyler, the noted architectural eritic, writing.
for the Architecturai Record in 1899 said, in refrospect, " +-is the most

ccmplete and most homogeneous collegiate planf‘ Thaf | know.of, excepf;ng-

the Unlversity of Chlcago "

Haight's plan-was that of a letter "E" with the prongs facing south’
and the back spine extending continuously along 21st. Street, thus leav-
ing the 20th Street side open to the park-like campus. The gifficult
problem to solve was that the main entrance had to be on MNinth Avenue,

‘on one of the short dimensions, instead of being in the center of the
long side. Haight solved this by erecting an impressive central ouilding,
the Administration Building, with tunnel-like entrance,fldnked. on-gither
side by the handsome Library ahd Deanery. These buildings once gave a-
very good indication of what the visitor might expect inside the Juad--
rangle. Unfortunately they have been swept away 1o make room for néw
buildings, ai+hough all of Haigh?'s o?her buiidlngs remain inside the
Muadrandle.

In style Haight's‘work might be described as Eng!ish Collegiate
Cothic, 3 style In which he was one of the pioneers., It was very
sfraighfforward work in which Haight relled for effect upon the dispo-
sition of the buildings and in which the decoration was always an out-
ward and visible expression of the underlying construction. Haight
always insisted that the finish of a building shouid be the development,
not the conceslment of 1ts construction.  As a result the ornament was, -
as-one can see by walking around the campus, not an applied thing but ,
an expression of the logical enframement of a doorway or a window or the
treatment of a gable or tower to make it expressive of 1ts use.

The general feelling which pervades this group of buildings is one
of tow-lying unitormity, achieved through a homogeneous use of materials
punctuated by an occasional tower, buttress, gabled entrance or chimney.
The end result is reposeful and remarkably successful as an archu-
tectural ensembie.

The materials employed were a hard brick, chosen for its color, for
the walls; Belleville brownstone and pressed brick for frim at the
openings and dark colored siate for the roofs,

The first building Yo be constructed in accordance with the master
plan was Sherred Hall located centraliy on the north side of the East
Quadrangle. It was begun In 1883 and was completed the following ysar.
I+ was a three story classroom buiiding, uitimately fo be flanked by
dormitories. |7 established the character and quality of construction
which was destined To be followed by successive bulldings as the Campus .
grew.

The main characteristic of all of Haight's work was the sense of
continuity broken only by slight vertical projections or by the setting
back stightily of one building for emphasis and contrast. Horizontal
band-courses, usually meaningfully related to silis or fioor levels,
tie the bulldings together, and, combined with the uniformly Jow siafe
rcofs punctuated by chimneys, create a further sense of unity to the
overai! picture of the campus. In his details, Haight offten sought out
the simpiest expression, as in the maln entrance of Sherred Hall, where
the deeply revealed molding of the pointed arch, over the deorway, simply
dies In the jambs Instead of being carried down onto the heads of colon-
nettes. It is these refinements, and his expressive use of drip or label
moldings above the windows, which lend character without ever becoming
mere ornament, as was so often the case in work of the 1880s.

-
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CHELSEA H-D

MINTH AVENUE (iNos. 195~159) Betw. Vest 22nd & “est 19th Sts,

In 1886 when construction was begun in earnast, it seemed only -
fitting that some sort of recognition of the Seminary be made by the
City. With this irn mind, they requested of the Board of Alderman that
the Seminary Block, which was formerly known as Chelsea Square, be so
designated legally. On February 13, 1886 the Board granted their
request. .

The naw building on Ninth Avenue by O'Connor & Kilham, which re-
pleces Haight's Library, Administration and Deanery, contains the fine
new functional Library (St. Marks Library) and Administration Building
along the Avenus, with the Deanery set behind the Administration
Buitding on West 20th Strest. These new buildings, facing the Avenue
with Their recessed first floor, create a feeling of horizontslity at
this level which contrasts sTrongiy with the upper floors, where an
accent on verticality is introduced by the windows and trim. Symmetry
is attempted at this facade where biank walls at the ends feature a
fow rellef cross to Tthe south and a statue of St. Mark to the north,
salvaged from a niche above the entrance of the old building.

Sherred Hall, as described, may be considered the prototype of all
the dormitories and class rooms subsequently erected inside the Quad-
rangte. The east Quad is separated from the wastern portion by the
bold introduction of the Chape! of the Good Shepherd at right angles to
the northern range of buildings, located approximately at its center.

The cornerstone for the Chape! was laid on Commencement Day, 1886
and the building was completad, including the Beil ‘Tower, in 1888, being
consecratéd on Ali Saints Day. From an ecumenical point of view +he
Chapel is interesting as two-thirds of the interior is devoted :fo the
choir, since Tthe majority of its communicants are eccles&asflcai teaving
only onae~third for a congregation. »

The Chapet! was the gift of Dean Hoffman's mother, who erected It in
memory of her husband, Samuel Verplanck Hoffman, Haight designed the
Chapet, working c¢losely with Dean Hoffman, +o achieve the tofty elegance
we associate with this structure. The handsome main entrance doors of
bronze, at the south end, were executed by the Dean's protdge J. Massey
Rhind and were instailed in 1899 in memory of tha Dean's son. They were
cast by the noted Bronze Founder John Wilitams of New York and portray
scenas from the new testament. Rhind also modeled the bronze tympani above
‘the doors illustrating the Resurrection,surmounted by a vesica of Christ as
the Good Shepherd. The square bell-tower, a noted feature in Chelses,
rises to a height of one hundred and sixty-one feet with a fine cariilon of
bells. The belfry section of this tower has two high pointed arches at each
side, separated by stone mullions, crowned by cusped tracery and closed
by louvers. Cornar furrets rise above Tthe parapet and are capped by pointed
finials, Tha crenellated parapet on each side is supportfed on pseudo~
mechicolations. ' -

The completion of the western portion of the Quadrangle was achieved -
just before the death of Dean Hoffman with the construction of Hoffman Hall,
the combination Refectory-Gymnasium Building, dedicated at Commencement in
1900, WYork began in 1899 on this handsome ell-shaped structure which fills
the northwest cormner of the Quadrangie, creating a bit of picturesque
med ioevalism. The western portion of the ell consists of the richly revealed
and molded entrance door, flanked by a tower, leading ¥& a handsome
stair hall inside, which goes up on2 flight to the Refectory, The bay
vindow of the Refectory, carried on corbels, may be seen at the north por-
tion of the ell. It is paneled below and has handsome muillions supporting
a crenellated parapet. The Refectory is one of the outstanding rooms in
the city with its fireplaces, one at each end, high wood wainscot and
musiclans'® gallery at the east end. The grea+ wood trusses provide a
high centrat arch which is treated as a coffered barrel vault extending
the length of the room, a most unusual treatment where lateral trusses are
used. The stained glass bay window at the east end, the one described
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NINTH AVENUE (Hos. 195-159)" Betw. West 22nd é?wesf 19th Ss.

from the exterior, displays the seats of the existing dioceses of

Mew York when the Seminary was founded |n 1817,

Jusf west of The Chape! the two last buildings, closing the north
side of the Quadrangle, were bquT with a narrow accessway between them
leading to 2ist Street. They are the only buiidings, except that on
Minth Avenue, which were not built-by Haight, although an attempt was

. made to harmonize them with his earlier structures. Seabury Hall, im-

mediately adjoining the Chapel “to the west, was bullt to provide an
up-to-date Common Room and Auditorium, in 1931, by Alfred Morton
Githens. Just west of this building, across the accessway, stands |
Moore Building, belatediy named for the initla! donor to the Seminary.
it was less successful than Seabury Hal!l in its attempt to harmonize

with Haight's work and was buiit in 1956 by Robert B. O'Connor &
Halter Kelham, Jr., architects of.the Minth Avenue building Elgenbrodf

Hall, and theé Faculty Apartments building to the south of I+, built in
1895, effectively close the west end of the Quadrangle Jeaving no en-

trance from that quarter.

I+ was also in 1895 that Dean Hoffman closed his handsome Quad--.
rangle by copylng the Ninth Avenue lron railing and extending it along
West 20th Street, to replace a simple picket fence of wood, setting
it on top of a brownstone retaining wall of random ashlar.

The General Theological Seminary occupies an important piace In
the community both physically and culturally. Occupying Chelsea .
Square, a park in the center of the Chelsea Historic District, Its dis-

tinguished architecture and high beli tower lend distinction to the en-

tire neighborhood. The playing of the carillon every atternoon, the
call to vespers, is a neighborhood tradition and a Joy to all.

As an. gever expanding educational institution, many of whose members
live in and anound Chelsea Square, it exerts a beneflicent cultural in- .
fluence on the entire neighborhood. In addition, St. Marks Library
is This country's outstanding ecclesiastical !ibrary, containing over
118,000 books. Thanks to Dean Hoffman's generosity, the library has |
the greatest collection of Latin Bibles in the world and a Gutenberg
Bible, one of six in the country. These assets, plus the Indefineable
charm of Chelsea itself, all contribute to make the General
Theological Seminary a pivotal factor, promoting every aspect of the
dally life of thosa who live in the Chelsea Historic District.

MINTH AVENUE {(Nos. I95—\59) Betw. West 22nd & West 19th Sts.

Nos, 169, 167 and 165 were bullt in 1845 for Don Alonzo Cushman,
o, 169 was originally bullt with a shop on the ground floor and a
dwelling above. Nos, 167 and 165 were built as private dwellings; be-
tween the years 1854 and 1859 the first floors were remodeted as shops.
At a later date, Nos. 167 and 169 were combined into one bullding and
the upper stories raised to thelr present heights.

Nos. 163 and 16t were built in the Greek Revival style, in 1843,
for Don Afonzo Cushman. These two bulldings were recently remodeled
and, as an indication of present-day trends, the original stores on the
ground floor were remodeled into apartments. ‘Only the roof cornice and
upper floor windows remain to give any indication of the original style
of the buildings. Expert gquidance coutd have aided the owner in pro-
ducing a more appropriate design than that which combines a pseudo-
mansard roof with splayed Georgian Vintels and a Mediterranean sfyle
entrance door.
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NINTH AVENUE (Nos. 195-159) Betw. West 22nd & West 19th Sts.

No. 159 was buiit in the !talianate style, in 1861, for Don
Alonzo Cushman. This building, as seen today, is & strange combina-
tion of nineteenth century elegance and twentieth century utiliterian-
ism. The upper three stories remain in perfect condition and hava
a white marble 1talianate front, the onity such front in The District.
It retains also its original roof cornice, segmenta! arcned windows
and, most unusual, [ts molded tinfels above Them. By contrast, the
rodern first floor store front Is clad in green porcelair enamel.
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STATEMENTS BY THE COMMISSION
Geﬁeréi TheologiéalISeminary',

The Landmarks Preservation Commission recognizes that the needs of
the General Theological Seminary in the Chelsea Historic District may,

-change-in the years ahead. By this designation it is not intended to
. freeze the properties of the Seminary in their present state for.all time

and thus prevent future appropriate alterations needed by the Seminary

- for its buildings.: The Commission believes it has the obligation and,

' -indeed, -1t has the desire to codperate with ovmers in Historic Districts

who may wish to make changes in their properties to meet their current and
future needs. This attitude reflects the Commission's endorsement of the
view that Landmarks are often successfully preserved through active and
beneficlal use.

The Landmarks Preservation Law contains many provisions relating to
changes in Historic Districts. The Commission is already working with
owners who wish to make changes in their properties and has given many ap-
provals. In this connection the Commission wishes to state at this time
that it recognizes that the General Theological Seminary may want to erect
new buildings on its grounds in the future., The Commission recognizes
that the Seminary may also wish to make exterior alterations to its exist~

ing buildings. The Commission looks forward to working with the represen-

tatives of the Seminary when it desires to erect new buildings on its

‘grounds or to make exterior alterations on its exdsting buildings.

The Commiésion is confident that fine new buildings can be designed

so that they will enhance the appearance of the Chelsea Historic District.

In an Historic District the best buildings from the past can be enhanced
by the addition of well designed and appropriate new buildings. In re-

. viewing a new building proposed for an Historic District, the Commission

will take into account, and the architect of the new building should take
into account, the surroundings, including the adjoining buildings and
those across the street and along both blockfronts. A new building should
relate well to its neighbors in terms of the materials which are used, the
architectural proportions, the size and shape of the windows and the de-
tails on the front of the building. The Commission is pleased whenever an

owner wishes to improve his property. We believe that money wisely spent

within an Historic District will greatly improve both the District and the
City. ' '

St. Peter's Church, Rectory and Parish Hall

The Landmarks Preservation Commission recognizes that the needs of
St. Peter's Church in the Chelsea Historic District may change in the
years ahead. By this designation it is not intended to freeze St. Peter's
Church, Rectory and Parish Hall in their present state for all time and
thus prevent future appropriate alterations needed by the Church for its
buildings. The Commission believes it has the obligation and, indeed, it
has the desire to cooperate with owners in Historic Districts who may wish
to make changes in their properties to meet their current and future needs.
This attitude reflects the Commission's endorsement of the view that
Landmarks are often successfully preserved through active and beneficial
use.

The Landmarks Preservation Law contains many provisions relating to
changes in Historic Districts. The Commission is working with owners who
wish to make changes in their propérties and has given many approvals.

The Commission recognizes that the Church may wish to make exterior altera-
tions to its exdisting buildings. The Commission looks forward to working
with the representatives of the Church when it desires to make exterior
alterations on its buildings. The Commission is pleased whenever an owner
wishes to improve his property. We believe that money wisely spent within
an Historic District will greatly improve both the District and the City.
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FINDINGS AND DESIGNATION

On the basis of a careful consideration of the history, the archi-~
tecture and other features of this area, the Landmarks Preservation
Commission finds that the Chelsea Historic District contains buildings
and other improvements which have a special character and special his-
torical and aesthetic Interest and value and which represent one or
more periods or styles of architecture typical of one or more eras in
the history of New York City and which cause this area, by reason of
these factors, to constitute a distinet section of the City.

The Commission further finds that, among its important qualities,
the Chelsea Historic District is a fine residential area in which the
streets are served by commerce along the avenue, that the block occupied
by the General Theological Seminary is a park-like setting in its midst,
that the District is one of the few parts of the City which, when it was
built along the grid pattern of the original Commissicners' Plan, was
largely developed by the owner of the estate on which it was located,
that he controlled it architecturally through restrictive covenants,
that these controls resulted in a high level of uniformity expressed in
handsome rows of houses and deep front gardens, that most of its develop=-
ment took place within a period of thirty years, beginning in 1830, which
resulted in its being built principally in two major architectural styles,
that these houses were an expression of the time and way of life which
produced them, that one is aware on entering or leaving this District, of

. a definite sense of guality and homogeneity in one's surroundings and that

these qualities combine to make Chelsea an Historic District.

Accordingly, pursuant to the provisions of Chapter 63 of the Charter
of the City of New York and Chapter 8~4 of the Administrative Code of the
City of New York, the Landmarks Preservation Commission designates as an
Historic District the Chelsea Historic District, Borough of Manhattan,
containing the property bounded by the southern property lines of L58
through 438 West 20th Street, part of the western and the southern proper-
ty lines of 436 West 20th Street, part of the western property line of 43k
West 20th Street, the southern and part of the eastern property lines of
434 West 20th Street, the southern and part of the eastern building lines
of 432 West 20th Street, part of the southern and western building lines
of 430 West 20th Street, part of the southern property line of 430 West
20th Street, the southern property line of L28 West 20th Street, part of
the western property line ofoﬁﬂ; West 20th Street, the southern property
linesPL2l through L20 West 20th Street, part of the eastern property line
of 420 West 20th Street, the southern property lines of 418 through L06
West 20th Street, part of the western property line of LOL West 20th
Street, the southern and part of the eastern property lines of LOL West
20th Strest, the southern property line of 159 Ninth Avenue, Ninth Avenue,
the southern property line of 150 Ninth Avenue, the eastern property lines
of 150 and 152 Ninth Avenue, part of the eastern property line of 154
Ninth Avenue, part of the southern property line of 156 Ninth Avenue, the
southern and part of the eastern property lines of 360 West 20th Street,
the southern property lines of 358 through 348 West 20th Street, part of
the westemrn property line of 346 West 20th Street, the southern property
lines of 346 through 336 West 20th Street, part of the eastern property
line of 336 West 20th Street, the southern property lines of 334 through
318 West 20th Street, the eastern property line of 318 West 20th Street,
West 20th Street, the eastern property line of 327 West 20th Street, the
northern property lines of 327 through 331 West 20th Street, part of the
wostern property line of 331 West 20th Street, the northern property
line of 333 West 20th Street, part of the eastern property line of 335
Wost 20th Street, the northern property lines of 335 through 351 West
20th Street, part of the western property line of 351 West 20th Street,
the northern property lines of 353 through 361 West 20th Street, the
western property line of 361 West 20th Street, Weat 20th Street, Ninth
Avenue, West 21st Street, the eastern property line of 347 West 2lst
Street, the northern property lines of 3u7 through 357 West 2lst Street,
part of the western property line of 357 West 21lst Street, the northern
and part of the western property lines of 359 West 2lst Street, the
northern property line of 180 Ninth Avenue, Ninth Avenue, West 22nd
Street, Tenth Avenue, the southern property lines of L66 through L60 West
20th Street, and part of the eastern property line of 460 West 20th Street.
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